
 
 

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND 
LGES MEETING 

 
4.00 pm MONDAY, 13TH SEPTEMBER, 2021 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to 

being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 
above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 
 

3. Service Asset Management Plan   

 To consider the attached report 
 

3 - 18 

4. Youth Services   

 To consider the attached report 
 

19 - 26 

5. Forward Work Programme 2021/22   

 To consider the attached report 
 

27 - 36 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillor H R Jones (Chair) 

                 S Jago (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors: H Barrett, B Carter, D Isaac and M Jones 

 
Co-optee(s): J Beard, C Brown, K Phelan, M Symonds, 
F Whitefoot, T Wilkes and T Butler 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Service Asset Management Plan 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The report sets out the key service priorities detailed in the Learning 
Department’s Service Asset Management Plan (SAMP).  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 That the contents of this report are discussed and noted.  
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In line with the requirements of the Council’s overall Corporate Asset 

Management Plan 2021-2026 each service area is required to have an up to 
date Service Asset Management Plan (SAMP). 
 

3.2 The Learning Department’s SAMP has been developed as a key part of the 
Council’s Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy and in 
response to the requirements to deliver against the Best Start priorities 
detailed in the corporate Recovery, Transformation and Improvement (RTI) 
Plan i.e., Improving the condition of school and other education settings. 

 
3.3 This report sets out some of the key details from the Learning Department’s 

SAMP.  
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 
4.1 The Council’s 21st Century Schools Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) for 

Band B was initially approved by Welsh Government (WG) in the Autumn of 
2017 and subsequently revised and approved in Spring 2019. 

Date Written 6th September 2021 

Report Author Anthony Lewis 

Service Area Learning  

Committee Date 13th September 2021 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
4.2 The Band B SOP set out the following priority projects with an overall 

programme budget of £57 million with projects to be undertaken between 
2019 and 2026 

 Pen Y Dre 11-16, Major Refurbishment circa £18 million 

 Goetre 3-11, New build primary and co-location of early years setting, 
circa £10 million 

 3-16 VA Catholic School, New build all-through 3-16 school, circa £29 
million 

 
4.3 Property condition was a key criterion, along with sufficiency of school places 

and potential flexible use of assets, that determined projects selected for Band 
B and is a key investment objective used by WG when approving candidate 
projects for 21st Century schools and other capital investment projects. 
Accurate and up to date property condition information is therefore critical to 
ongoing strategic planning of school and learning stock. 
 

4.4 Due to internal capacity pressures within the local authority the property 
condition surveys due to be undertaken in 2018/19 were not completed and the 
rolling programme was discontinued at that time. Consequently, 10 of 27 
schools had condition surveys outstanding since around 2008/09.  

 
4.5 The recorded condition of local authority school building stock in 2018, using 

the most recently available condition survey data, has been summarised below: 
 

Table 1 - Condition of school stock, 2018 
 Condition A 

(Good) 
Condition B 
(Satisfactory) 

Condition 
C 
(Poor) 

Condition 
D 
(Bad) 

TOTAL 

Primary 3 
 

12 6 1 22 

Secondary 1 
 

0 2 1 4 

Special 0 
 

0 1 0 1 

TOTAL 4 
 
(14.8%) 

12 
 
(44.4%) 

9 
 
(33.3%) 

2 
 
(7.4%) 

27 

 
4.6 Backlog maintenance is another core data set informing capital programme 

priorities and strategic capital projects. The backlog maintenance across all 
schools as per Corporate Estates asset management system data towards the 
end of 2020 was £3.6 million.  
 
This has been analysed across the different categories of property condition 
below:  

 
  

Page 4



Table 2 – Backlog Maintenance, 2020 

 Condition A 
(Good) 

Condition B 
(Satisfactory) 

Condition 
C 
(Poor) 

Condition 
D 
(Bad) 

TOTAL 

Backlog 
Mtce  
 

£Nil £1,697,270 £1,087,237 £863,744 3,648,251 

Number 
of 
Schools 
 

4 13 8 2 27 
 
 
 
£135,120 Average 

per 
School 
 

£Nil £130,559 £135,905 £431,872 

 
4.7 Other WG capital grant funding streams were made available in 2018 and 

2019 which the local authority made successful bids for but none of these 
priority projects were reflected in a single Service Asset Management Plan.  
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 
5.1 The Learning Department’s SAMP has been detailed in Appendix A and 

reflects the current property portfolio, service priorities, current 
plans/proposals and future property requirements. 

 
5.2 Discussions have been ongoing with Property Services and Estates regarding 

the reinstatement of a condition survey programme for schools in order to 
better inform ongoing capital maintenance and strategic capital investment in 
school stock. 

 
5.3 As a result, the Learning Department has secured a budget to ensure the 

delivery of both property condition and suitability surveys over the three 
financial years 2021/22 to 2023/24 as part of an overall five year corporate 
condition survey programme 2021 – 2026. 

 
5.4 The surveys will provide holistic condition and suitability scores in line with 

Welsh Government scoring standards. The suitability surveys provide an 
assessment of the appropriateness of each schools teaching and learning 
environment in addition to the property condition scores provided by the  
standard surveys. 
 

5.5 The condition survey programme has been prioritised over the three years in 
line with the services asset management priorities. Using available revenue 
budgets the programme was able to commence early in November 2020, 
targeting school properties that form part of the Welsh Medium capital grant 
proposals being scoped. 

  

Page 5



5.6 The condition survey programme will provide up to date information on the 
condition of all schools and Learning Department stock as well as current 
backlog maintenance data and therefore forms a key part of the Learning 
Department’s SAMP that has been developed.  

 
5.7 Other key asset management priorities for the service and related projects 

have been detailed in sections 4, 5 and 6 of the SAMP including: 
 

 21st Century Schools Programme Band B 2019-2026 

 WM Education Capital Grant Tranche 1 and 2 

 Early Years Childcare Offer Capital Grant 

 Sufficiency of Nursery Education Places 

 Reducing Infant Class Sizes Grant 

 Non-operational property 

 Corporate Maintenance strategy 

 REFIT schools energy efficiency scheme 

 Net Zero Carbon options for 21st Century schools Band B projects  
 
5.8 The SAMP also sets out the detail of the current property holdings within the 

Learning portfolio and identifies any potential non-operational property that 
may require further consideration or planning. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The overall aims of the Learning Departments SAMP are to improve  

standards of accommodation that are suitable for their purpose, and sufficient 
to meet the service’s requirements including rationalising and re-aligning the 
property portfolio where appropriate. 

 
6.2 Some of the key objectives which underpin these aims are as follows 
 

 To remove all condition D and C school buildings from the local authority 
stock by the end of Band C i.e. by 2031 

 To increase the provision of ‘good’ condition schools with suitable 
environments for teaching and learning i.e. condition and suitability grade 
A 

 To remove the significant surplus places across the secondary school 
sector and redress any surplus or sufficiency issues across the primary 
sector 

 To ensure the demand for WM education places is met over the short, 
medium and long term and to encourage growth in demand through 
targeted growth in WM places in early years and schools and promotion of 
welsh language and culture.  

 To provide additional space to accommodate increased provision of 
nursery education or childcare to 3 year olds to meet the demands of the 
30 Hrs childcare offer  

 To provide a sufficiency of places to meet increasing demand for 
specialist provision across both the Mainstream and Special School 
sectors. 

Page 6



 To provide fully accessible education buildings and premises 

 To deliver more flexible use of school assets including co-location of 
integrated services such as childcare providers, and wellbeing / health 
services etc.  

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 In order to help achieve the aims and objectives of the SAMP the following 

next steps have been identified 
 

7.2 Continue scoping high level proposals for Band C using the criteria of property 
condition and suitability, sufficiency of places and flexible use of assets 
consistent with WGs current investment objectives for 21st Century schools. 
 

7.3 Undertake an updated sufficiency review of school places provided across all 
school stock over the medium to long-term, evaluating whether there is 
enough supply / surplus of places to meet demand in all sectors. 

 
7.4 Undertake an updated accessibility review and audit of school stock in line 

with the consideration of the Equalities Act 2010 to ensure school sites and 
premises are appropriately assessed for all issues and barriers. 

 
7.5 Complete the condition and suitability surveys for all schools and Learning 

building stock including an updated assessment of all backlog maintenance. 
 
7.6 Agree prioritisation of works required arising from the sufficiency review, 

accessibility audits and condition survey programme in order to update the 
SAMP and the Capital Programme MTFP. 

 
7.7 Review the SAMP annually in line with any changes to service priorities, 

ongoing condition surveys or any other changes as appropriate. 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO RAISING ASPIRATIONS RAISING 
STANDARDS STRATEGY 

 
8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following RARS Themes and Goals: 

 

 RARS Themes 
o Partnership and Collaboration  

 RARS Goals 
o Developing the Environment for Learning 

 
9.0 Contribution to WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
9.1 This report specifically links to the Best Start to Life objective within the 

Council’s Corporate Wellbeing Plan: Children and young people get the best 
start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 
learners and confident individuals. 

 

Page 7



9.2 Through the delivery of the priorities within the Learning Department SAMP 
we will also be able to demonstrate our contribution to support progress 
against the following objectives: 

 Communities protect, enhance, and promote our environment and 
countryside.  
 

 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document 

Location 

Update on Carbon and Energy Management 
Activities in Schools, Scrutiny Report 

 

25th November 
2019 

INTRANET 

21st Century Schools Programme, Cabinet 
Report 

 

17th April 2019 INTRANET 

21st Century Schools Band B Strategic Outline 
Programme (SOP) 

August 2017 
 

Revised February 
2019 

 

Learning 
Department 

Overview of School Building Stock, Scrutiny 
Report 

 
 

3rd September 
2018 

INTRANET 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Page 8



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

LEARNING DEPARTMENT 
 

 
Service Asset 

Management Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Anthony Lewis 

Date September 2021 
 

  

Page 9



 

 

Content 
 
 
1. Introduction 
 
2. Purpose and Objectives of the Service Asset Management Plan (SAMP) 
 
3. Existing Property Holdings 
 
4. Service Priorities and Future Property Requirements 
 
5. Corporate Maintenance Strategy 
 
6. Energy & Carbon Management 
 
7. Next Steps 
 
Appendix 1 – Learning Department Property Portfolio 
 
Appendix 2 - Condition Survey Programme 2021-2024 
 
Appendix 3 - School Buildings Repairs and Maintenance 

 
  

Page 10



 

 

1. Introduction 
 

The Learning Department consists of the following strategic service areas: 
 Maintained Schools - 22 Primary Schools, 4 Secondary Schools, 1 Special School 
 Centrally retained Schools - 1 Pupil Referral Unit 
 School Improvement 
 Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion 
 School Planning, Support and Resources 

 Community Wellbeing 
 
The following Service Asset Management Plan (SAMP) sets out the current and planned future 
arrangements for the Learning department’s property portfolio including key service priorities, future 
property requirements and key next steps for the ongoing development of the plan. 
 
This SAMP is a core strategic document informing the delivery of the Learning Department’s priorities in 
developing its portfolio of schools and other education building stock as a key part of the Council’s 
Raising Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy and of the delivery of the Council’s Best Start 
priorities within the Recovery, Transformation and Improvement (RTI) plan. Also, the SAMP has key links 
to the Council’s Corporate Maintenance Strategy and Carbon Management Plan. 
 
This SAMP will be reviewed / updated accordingly on a regular basis, and any updates to the plan, progress 
and future services changes that will potentially have an impact on accommodation needs will be reported 
to the Education Services Leadership Team (ESLT) and to the Corporate Asset Management Group.   
 

2. Purpose and Objectives of the SAMP 
 

The overall objective of the Learning Departments SAMP is to improve standards of accommodation that 
are suitable for their purpose, and sufficient to meet the service’s requirements including rationalising 
and re-aligning the property portfolio where appropriate. This plan is complimentary to the preparation 
of the Council’s Asset Management Plan.  
 
In order to achieve our objectives, we will: 

 Ensure ongoing representation on the Corporate Asset Management Group; 

 Undertake regular reviews of current assets and premises occupied by our services, considering 
efficiency proposals as appropriate; 

 Consider how services are likely to change; and how these changes will impact on property needs 
over the next five years; 

 Identify potential capital and revenue savings made as a result of property rationalisation and 
disposal.  Additionally, we will review and agree an approach and identify associated costs of the 
operation and maintenance of the future property portfolio; 

 Undertake property condition and suitability surveys of all the learning portfolio as part of a 
corporate programme of property surveys 

 Undertake accessibility reviews and audits of all the learning portfolio in line with the Equalities 
Act 2010, as part of a regular programme of review 

 Undertake sufficiency reviews of all the learning portfolio, particularly schools, to ensure provision 
of the right size accommodation in the right locations and a sufficiency of places meeting the 
demand across all sectors over the medium and long term.  

 Undertake an annual review of the SAMP to ensure the plan remains current and accurate. 
  

Page 11



 

 

3. Existing Property Holdings 
 

The majority of properties held within the Learning Department portfolio are schools. There are also 
other properties that provide Early Years, Youth and Adult Education services. 
 
Each property is managed by a designated building manger, either the Headteacher or a service 
manager for non-school services. All non-operational property is usually managed by Corporate 
Property.  
 
Please see attached schedule at Appendix 1 which details the individual properties within the Learning 
Department portfolio. 
 

4. Service Priorities & Future Property Requirements 
 
4a. 21st Century Schools Programme 
The 21st Century schools programme is of critical strategic priority to help the local authority achieve its 
objectives set out in the Raising Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy, specifically; developing 
the environment for learning and ensuring there are appropriate, high quality teaching and learning 
environments providing sufficient school places for all children and young people. 
The local authority’s strategic aims for the 21st Century Schools Programme, as detailed in the Strategic 
Outline Programme (SOP), are as follows; 

 To increase the provision of ‘good’ condition schools with suitable environments for teaching and 
learning i.e. condition and suitability grade A 

 To provide the right size schools in the right location, ensuring a sufficiency of school places that 
meets the demands across all sectors over the long term 

 To achieve these aims whilst delivering better economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
public resources. Specifically; 
o Economy - long-term value for money & affordability  
o Efficiency - higher proportion of school funding spent on pupils rather than 

buildings/services 
o Effectiveness - school buildings, environments, and co-location of services, contribute to an 

improvement in pupil outcomes, wellbeing and prospects for life 
 
The seven objectives which underpin the aims of the 21st Century Schools SOP from Band B onwards are 
as follows 

1. To remove all condition D and C school buildings from the local authority stock 
2. To remove the significant surplus places across the secondary school sector and redress any 

surplus / sufficiency issues across the primary sector 
3. To provide a sufficiency of places to meet increasing demand for specialist provision across both 

the Mainstream and Special School sectors. 
4. To ensure the demand for WM education places is met over the short, medium and long term and 

to encourage growth in demand through making space available to community services that 
promote welsh language and/or welsh culture.  

5. To provide additional space to accommodate increased provision of nursery education or childcare 
to three year olds to meet the demands of the 30 hrs childcare offer  

6. To deliver more flexible use of school assets including co-location of integrated services such as 
community childcare providers, LA/community wellbeing services, health, therapies and improved 
community access to leisure and library facilities. 

Page 12



 

 

7. To optimise the overall 21st Century School Programme for the long-term, through project 
solutions that are achievable i.e. affordable and deliverable, within the overall programme 
envelope and in keeping with the sustainable development principle. 

 
These objectives will inform strategic planning of all capital investment proposals in schools over the 
Band B period 2019-2026, into Band C and beyond, subject to further strategic review and change where 
necessary. 
 
Band A 2014-2019 
Band A was a five-year programme scheduled from 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2019. WG approval was 
provided to extend the project completion of the new build Ysgol Y Graig (YYG) school to 2021. 
 
The following projects were undertaken by the Council as part of Band A. 

 A major of refurb of Afon Taf High School circa £12 million was completed with handover and 
completion of the project achieved August 2017. 

 A new build YYG School circa £7.3 million has been completed with handover and completion of 
the project achieved at the end of August 2021.  

 
Band B 2019-2026 
WGs specific investment objectives for approving Band B projects for the 21st Century Schools 
Programme was as follows: 

i. Condition of schools  
ii. Sufficiency of school places  
iii. Flexible use of assets – including co-location of services  

In the first instance WG prioritised projects for investment based on the first two objectives; building 
condition and sufficiency. 
 
Using the above criteria, the following projects were included in the Council’s 21st Century Schools Band 
B programme with a total programme envelope of £57 million. 

 Pen Y Dre 11-16 Secondary School major refurb project   

 Goetre Primary School 3-11 New Build project, with co-located Busy Bees Flying Start provision  

 3-16 VA Catholic School New Build project, merging three primary schools; St Aloysius, St Illtyd’s 
and St Mary’s with Bishop Hedley High School into a single school. 

 
These projects are at various stages of pre-construction, design development and consultation regarding 
preferred sites.  Each of these projects are expected to be completed on or before summer 2024.  The 
deadline for completing the projects in line with WG funding requirements is 31st March 2026 
 
4b. Welsh Medium Education Capital Grant 
The Welsh Medium (WM) Education Capital Grant is a key strategic funding stream made available by 
Welsh Government (WG) to target growth in WM education provision across Wales in line with the 
ambitions of Cymraeg 2050. 
 
Tranche 1 Grant Funding 
The local authority successfully bid for the first tranche of WM capital monies during 2018 in support of 
its Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2017-2020.  
The following projects were approved by WG in 2019 with a total programme budget of £1.8 million 

 Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug; an internal reconfiguration to provide an additional two classrooms, 
additional pre-nursery places and a specialist Learning Resource Base (LRB) for WM pupils. 

 Current approved timelines are for project delivery by August 2023 

Page 13



 

 

 New single form entry WM primary school; new WM primary school to be located in one of the 
primary school properties vacated as part of the Band B programme. A new Cylch Meithrin early 
years provision will also be co-located with the school. 

 
Current approved timelines are for the new Cylch Meithrin to be established from January 2022 
onwards in the former Gurnos Nursery building. The school will be seeded as a satellite site of Ysgol 
Santes Tudful with a Nursery intake in 2022 and Reception intake in 2023. Completion of the capital 
project to upgrade the vacated premises will take place in 2024 following completion of the Band B 
projects. 
 
WESP 2022-2032 
In line with the requirements for all local authorities to develop a ten year WESP, WG have provided 
each LA with a ten year target to increase the number of seven year olds accessing WM education i.e. 
pupils in Year 1. These targets require the Council to increase the number of learners accessing Welsh in 
Year 1 to between 155 and 186 by January 2031, compared to 100 pupils in January 2020. 
 
Tranche 2 Grant Funding 
To support LAs achieve these new targets WG have made available a second tranche of capital grant 
monies with bids required to be made before the end of October 2021.  There is also an expectation 
that future bids for 21st Century schools funding for Band C from 2026 onwards will reflect each local 
authorities’ ambitions to meet the targets and action set out in their WESPs 2022-2032.   
 
The local authority is currently undertaking feasibility studies in support of revised proposals for Ysgol 
Rhyd Y Grug and the third WM Primary school in order to maximise the increase in school places 
delivered by these projects to help meet the 10 year targets.  Following the completion of the feasibility 
studies, a bid will be made to WG to access additional capital funding through this second tranche of 
WM capital grant. Project completion timescales will also need to be reviewed as part of this bid 
pending the revisions proposed.  
 
4c. Early Years Childcare Offer Capital Grant 
The Early Years Childcare Capital grant is a key strategic funding stream made available by WG to help 
support local authorities in the delivery of the 30HR national childcare offer through co-location of early 
years provisions (pre-school childcare, pre-nursery education, wrap around childcare) within school 
settings. 
The following projects have been approved by WG. 
 
Linked to 21st Century Schools Band A and B projects 

 Ysgol Y Graig (YYG), co-location of Trefechan Toddlers Flying Start preschool within the new build 
YYG primary school (Band A) £234k [completed Aug 2021] 

 Goetre Primary School, co-location of Busy Bees Flying Start preschool within the new build 
Goetre Primary school (Band B) £402k 

Linked to WM Capital Grant projects 

 Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug, additional 24 p/t maintained pre-nursery places for 3 year olds £268k 

 Third WM Primary School, co-location of new Cylch Meithrin within the seedling school £373k  
Other Pre-school Co-location projects  

 Bedlinog Primary, co-location of Bedlinog preschool within Bedlinog Primary school £300k 

 Dowlais Primary, co-location of Dwylo Bach preschool on same site as Dowlais Primary school 
£581k 

 Pantyscallog Primary, additional works supporting Bobl Bach preschool Flying Start setting in the 
Annexe at Pant Primary £27k [completed Aug 20]  

Page 14



 

 

4d. Sufficiency of Nursery Education Places 
In January 2020, Council approved the Nursery Education strategy aiming to provide part-time nursery 
education to all three year olds and full-time nursery education to all four year olds.  To meet this 
strategic aim and ensure equity of provision across the County Borough the local authority has identified 
the following projects affecting English Medium (EM) schools, which would ensure all EM schools 
provide the full nursery offer: 

 Cyfarthfa Park Primary – nursery class extension £150k (completion Sep 2021)  

 Caedraw Primary – nursery class extension £110k - further scoping works required re cost and 
timescales 

 
Additional provision is also required in the WM schools but this is being addressed as part of the plans 
identified in the WM Capital grant and also through use of the Reducing Infant Class Sizes grant (see 
below) 
 
4e. Reducing Infant Class Size Grant 
The following projects were approved by WG as part of the Reducing Infant Class Sizes (RICS) Grant 
funding stream.  

 Ysgol Santes Tudful, a double demountable classroom to reduce infant class sizes in the short 
term (aligned to revenue grant funding) whilst increasing the capacity of the school and 
enhancing the nursery education offer to include full-time nursery for four year olds and part-
time nursery for three year olds each January and April £661k [Completed March 21] 

 Trelewis Primary, a double demountable classroom to reduce infant class sizes in the short term 
(aligned to revenue grant funding) whilst increasing the capacity of the school ongoing, 
alleviating pressure on pupil places. WG Grant £274k, Community Infrastructure Levy £268k and 
Capital programme £200k [Completed June 21] 

 
4f. Non-operational Property 
A number of school properties will be vacated as part of the above plans and the following considers any 
current plans regarding the sites/premises once vacated.  
 
Ysgol Y Graig Primary – main school and nursery building 
The Trefechan Toddlers preschool currently located in the former YYG nursery building will move into 
the new school building by the end of September following confirmation of their CIW registration. The 
vacated former YYG school buildings will then no longer have operational use within the Learning 
department portfolio and can be transferred to the corporate estate. 
 
Goetre Primary 
This is currently identified within the LDP for housing. A feasibility study is being carried out to assess 
the potential option for this to be the location of the new welsh medium school, as a satellite of Ysgol 
Santes Tudful. 
 
St Aloysius, St Illtyd’s, St Mary’s and Bishop Hedley High School 
Discussions have taken place with the Archdiocese of Cardiff regarding the transfer of the above school 
sites into the ownership of the local authority as part of the proposed Band B project to build a new 3-
16 school. These discussions are dependent upon the outcome of this project. There are currently no 
definitive plans for these sites and further consideration is required in line with the scoping of future 
plans and property requirements. 
  

Page 15



 

 

4g. Improving the Condition of Schools  
In support of the delivery of the RARS strategy and the Recovery, Transformation and Improvement 
(RTI) Best Start priorities, a comprehensive and holistic condition survey programme has been agreed 
for all schools and education buildings to be undertaken over 3 financial years between 2021 and 2024. 
 
These surveys are being undertaken as part of the new 5-year corporate programme across all local 
authority buildings 2021-2026, with an annual budget secured from 2021 onwards. The surveys of 
schools / education buildings include an assessment of suitability for learning with respect to the 
building and surrounding environment as well as assessing the property condition. 
 
The prioritisation of the buildings within the programme has been agreed based on an assessment of 
strategic priorities within the Learning portfolio as well as reflecting buildings with surveys overdue. 
 
Please refer to Appendix 2 Condition Survey Programme 2021-2024 that sets out the property 
condition surveys to be carried out for the Learning portfolio during the first three years of the 
corporate programme. Note, as reflected in the programme, the Learning Department used available 
revenue budgets during 2020/21 to support an early start to this programme on priority properties from 
November 2020 onwards. 
 
This condition survey programme is critical to identifying strategic priority projects moving forwards and 
to informing an ongoing maintenance strategy for school buildings and future capital investment in 
maintenance over the medium and long-term including use of Welsh Government grant where 
appropriate. 
 

5. Corporate Maintenance Strategy 
 
To ensure that the Council’s Property Portfolio is efficiently maintained in a manner that provides a safe, 
reliable and secure environment which complies with legislative requirements; a Corporate 
Maintenance Strategy has been developed. 
 
The Strategy is a live document that sets out the current property portfolio, survey programme, 
condition scoring, associated maintenance spend and information on how the maintenance service is 
delivered. In addition, the document also details key actions required in order to meet its Strategy 
objectives. 
 
In conjunction with Corporate Property Services the Learning Department has prioritised available 
corporate maintenance, capital programme and WG Capital Maintenance grant monies on addressing 
significant items of backlog maintenance including roof repairs and energy efficiency priorities such as 
new boilers and heating systems as well as safeguarding and health & safety issues such as new security 
gates, new flooring, paving slabs and guttering.  
 
The WG Capital Maintenance grant is currently in its third consecutive year of funding but its availability 
is only announced late each financial year and is subject to available capital monies in year.  Due to the 
late announcement of funds, WG do allow monies to be used to fund projects in the following financial 
period if required. 
 
The Learning Department also operates a Mutual Fund for non-capital repairs and maintenance to 
support schools to address their own responsibilities for building repairs. 
 

Page 16



 

 

Please refer to Appendix 3 ‘School Buildings Repairs and Maintenance’ that sets out the respective 
responsibilities for repairs and maintenance of school buildings between the local authority and schools.   
 
As stated above the Condition Survey programme is critical to the ongoing maintenance strategy for 
school buildings and identifying future capital investment in maintenance over the medium and long-
term.  This is true both for maintenance undertaken by the Council and by the schools themselves as the 
condition surveys will identify the works required to be addressed and Corporate Property services will 
advise whether this responsibility falls to the Council or to the school in line with Appendix 3.  Where 
responsibility falls to the school to carry out, schools will be asked to plan for these works in their 
repairs & maintenance expenditure as part of their school budgets and medium-term financial plans.   
 

6. Energy and Carbon Management 
 
In line with the Council’s Carbon Management Plan the local authority has implemented the REFIT 
Cymru project across the majority of school sites in order to carry out a number of energy efficiency 
schemes including LED replacement lighting, lighting controls, BMS upgrades and solar PV panels.  
School projects have been included in excess of £700k with the capital expenditure being financed from 
Salix loans, with the projects being carried out over the next 12 months. 
 
The projects will generate efficiency savings in energy use, reductions in carbon emissions and financial 
savings against school budgets due to reduced energy consumption.  It has been agreed with the 
Schools Forum to reduce the funding provided to schools for energy use in their formula allocations in 
order to fund the loan repayments with individual schools’ formula allocations being reduced by an 
amount equivalent to the energy savings generated following the completion of the respective REFIT 
projects will be implemented.  
 
This ensures the schemes are cost neutral to the individual schools and to the Council as a whole, with 
savings being realised following the completion of the loan payback period. 
 
The Learning Department are also working with Property Services and WG to explore the options 
around delivery net zero carbon schools as part of the 21st Century Schools programme.  This requires 
significant additional investment that will be supported by WG up to the project intervention rate i.e. 
85% for VA schools and 65% for other schools, with the local authority required to match fund the 
difference.  
 
Options to deliver operational net zero carbon are currently being explored and approvals for additional 
cost implications will be required from both WG and Cabinet as appropriate. 
 

7. Next Steps 
 
The following next steps have been identified as key to determining emerging service priorities and 
further property requirements over the next five to ten years. 
 
Band C 21st Century Schools Programme 
The learning department is currently scoping high level proposals for Band C alongside colleagues from 
Property Services and Planning using the criteria of property condition and suitability, sufficiency of 
places including WM and specialist provisions and flexible use of assets.  
 

Page 17



 

 

This is consistent with the criteria used by WG to prioritise funding for Band B projects and these are 
again likely to feature as significant factors in determining funding for Band C although an additional 
criterion may be included around projects that address decarbonisation.  
 
Band C is currently expected to commence from April 2026 onwards and the authority is likely to be 
required to submit bids at some point by or before mid-2024. 
 
Planning of School Places (POSP) review and plan  
The Learning Department will undertake an updated sufficiency review in 2021/22 of school places 
provided across all school stock over the medium to long-term, evaluating whether there is enough 
supply / surplus of places to meet demand in all sectors.  
 

This review will consider updated pupil projections, school capacities including potential for internal 
reconfiguration, pupil growth expected from the Local Development Plan and the implications of growth 
in WM provision on corresponding EM school places. 
 

The review will inform a medium to long-term planning of school places (POSP) plan in 2022/23 setting 
out recommendations to address any surplus and / or sufficiency of places expected to arise in the 
medium to long-term. 
 

Potential solutions could include school reorganisation proposals, changes to catchment areas, building 
extensions and other capital works that generate additional capacity including internal reconfiguration 
works.  
 
Accessibility Review and priority works 
The learning department will undertake an updated accessibility review and audit of school stock in line 
with the consideration of the Equalities Act 2010 to ensure school sites and premises are appropriately 
assessed for all issues and barriers that prevent full compliance with the Act. This review will include an 
assessment of the works necessary to address the barriers and issues so that school premises can fully 
meet the requirements of the act.  
 

A prioritisation of works will be undertaken in order to inform future bids to the Council’s capital 
programme over the period of the medium-term financial plan. 
 
Condition Survey Programme priority works  
The condition survey programme will identify priority works for each school building as the surveys are 
undertaken and this will inform the capital maintenance programme of work for school buildings over 
the period of the medium-term financial plan including projects financed from the capital programme, 
the corporate maintenance budget and from the WG Capital Maintenance Grant for as long as this grant 
funding continues to be available.  
 

Page 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Youth Service  
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report sets out the responsibilities of the Youth Service and its component parts 

in delivering against these responsibilities.  It also revisits how the service is 
structured across the County Borough.  The integrated model that was developed 
and approved is reliant upon partners across the voluntary or third sector and 
through grant funding for a substantial amount of delivery.  

 
1.2 The report focuses on the national performance data of the Youth Service and its 

partners as both the NEETs agenda and the Participation agenda have been the 
subject of other reports to Council and or Cabinet.  This national data has not been 
published for the last two years and therefore cannot be benchmarked against other 
local authorities at this time. 

  
1.3 The report identifies the key areas for future development and next steps that will 

enable the service to achieve its ambitions of remaining in the top quartile across 
Wales.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
2.2 Scrutiny Committee members identify any further information they would like to 

receive on the proposed Youth Support Services Plan. 
 
2.3 Scrutiny Committee members identify any further information they would like in 

relation to future grant funding impacting these services, including Legacy funding. 
 
2.4 Scrutiny Committee members identify priorities which can be considered by Cabinet 

in developing budget proposals. 
 

Date Written 6th September 2021 

Report Author Chris Hole  

Service Area Community Wellbeing  

Committee Date 13th September 2021 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 There is a requirement on the local authority under section 123 of the Learning and 

Skills Act (2000) to ‘provide, secure the provision of or participate in the provision of 
youth support services’.  This means services that will ‘encourage, enable or assist 
young persons (directly or indirectly): 

 
a. To participate effectively in education and training, 
b. To take advantage of opportunities for employment, or 
c. To participate effectively and responsibly in the life of their communities. 

 
3.2 The Youth Service, in addition to its statutory responsibility also has responsibility for 

the co-ordination of young people who are NEET or potentially NEET (11-25), as laid 
out in the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework guidance provided by 
Welsh Government. 

 
3.3 A range of targeted services are also available through grant funding including the 

School Support Team and the Mental Health and Youth Homelessness Team funded 
through the Youth Support Grant; Inspire to Achieve and Inspire to Work European, 
funded lead working projects; and the Families First funded Youth Support Team that 
supports the Team Around the Family (TAF) model.  

 
3.4 The local authority, through a core funded commissioned service with Safer Merthyr 

Tydfil (SMT), provides young people with the opportunity to have their voice heard 
through the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF), along with support 
from the office of Youth Mayor. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 
4.1 Since 2015 the statutory Youth Service has comprised of three full-time youth 

provisions and one street-based team, funded from core resources, with only one 
facility across the County Borough being the property of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council (Pen y Dre Youth Centre).  This established a geographical model, 
agreed by Council, and was based on both the LA funded provision and partners 
provision ensuring that young people are no more than three miles from an open 
access universal youth provision.  The structure implemented was based upon robust 
self-evaluation, independent research and extensive consultation with young people, 
stakeholders and staff.  This also secured a substantial saving for the Council at the 
time through the reduction in provision, changes to staff terms and conditions and 
increased integrated working with the third sector.  
 

4.2 The introduction of the Legacy Fund by Welsh Government enabled the best of 
Communities First to be maintained.  This enabled the continuation of he Dowlais 
Engine House, The Gellideg Foundation and the 3G’s Development Trust (now 
Merthyr Valley Homes) as agreed by Council to continue delivering services to children 
and young people as part of this geographical approach.  
 

4.3 This collaborative approach resulted in an improved strategic focus and co-ordination 
of services across the County Borough whilst also influencing the quality of these 
services.  This was recognised in 2018 by the Youth Service achieving the Bronze 
Quality Mark for Youth Work in March 2018. 

Page 20



4.4 In 2017 there were three separate strategic plans covering the various aspects of the 
work with children and young people:  NEETS Strategy, Youth Support Services 
Strategy and the Youth Service Strategy.   

 
5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

 
5.1 The current structure of provision across the County Borough is provided in Appendix 

A which shows how reliant upon the third sector the local authority Youth Services are 
for both delivery and access to facilities.  
 

5.2 In relation to the current performance of the service the data for 2019/20 has not yet 
been verified and published by Welsh Government due to the impact of the pandemic 
and the figures for 2020/21 have only recently been obtained from all partners and 
submitted to Welsh Government.  These figures, for both years should be treated with 
extreme caution as there is no comparative data across Wales to benchmark this 
performance against during the pandemic.  
 
Table 1 Engagement 

Year %11-25 year old 
engagement 

Wales 
average 

%11-19 year old 
engagement 

Wales 
average 

2020/21 21.32% N/A 32% N/A 

2019/20 29.4% N/A 48% N/A 

2018/19 36% 15% 59% 25% 

2017/18 21% 16% 36% 27% 

2016/17 22% 16% 37% 27% 

 
5.3 In 2019/20 the number of engagements by young people was 31,735 which was a 

decrease on the previous year (33,677).  This engagement though was really hit hard 
during the heights of the pandemic in 2020/21 when centres were closed and access 
to young people in schools was restricted to essential learning only.  This resulted in 
most engagements being done online through group or one to one sessions with those 
most at risk of disengagement and amounted to 6,710 in 2020/21. 

  
 Table 2 Accreditation  

Youth Service Trend Data – Accredited Outcomes  

Year % 11-25 year olds gaining a qualification Wales average 

2020/21 14% N/A 

2019/20 23% N/A 

2018/19 14% 10% 

2017/18 26% 9% 

2016/17 15% 10% 

 
5.4 The percentage of 11-25 year old young people engaged with the Youth Service who 

achieve a recognised qualification has been consistently above the Wales average for 
the last seven years.  Table 2 provides the trend in performance since 2016/17.  This 
reflects the desire by young people to be able to access qualifications through Youth 
Services.  During the pandemic a concerted effort was made by all partners to support 
as far as possible young people to continue with their accredited learning through one 
to one work, online group delivery.  The delivery of BTEC’s were also completed just 
as lockdown commenced in March 2020 but were claimed in the summer of 2020. 
Therefore, the full impact of the pandemic on accredited outcomes will not be fully 
realised until 2021/22. 

Page 21



 
5.5 The Youth Service accesses a range of funding and reports on this alongside the data 

above on an annual basis to Welsh government.  The financial analysis is as set out 
below:  

 
Table 3 Funding  

Core and Grant Funded Youth Work Budgets (£) 

Funding 
Type 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-29 2020-21 

Core 461,914 486,964 497,089 486,464 447,874 

Grant 280,152 276,842 488,241 504,498 515,865 

Total 742,066 763,806 985,330 990,962 963,739 

 
5.6 In addition to the above, which is reported to Welsh Government annually, there are 

also two other funding streams the Youth Service is in receipt of; European funding 
for the Inspire programmes (£573,304) and Families First funding for its role in Team 
around the Family and NEETs coordination (£141,430). 

 
5.7 During the pandemic, and as previously reported to Scrutiny as part of the Education 

portfolio report, the Youth Service continued to deliver services where possible by 
adopting different approaches and through staff assisting with other activities to 
support children, young people and families.  A summary of the approaches is 
provided below and were delivered dependent upon the various stages of lockdown: 
 

 Implemented keeping in touch and telephone or online interventions with young 
people 

 New referrals continued to be accepted for phone or online interventions 

 Families were supported to engage in the MTHA Fit & Fed programme by 
purchasing cooking equipment, food vouchers and small fitness equipment 

 ‘Operation Play Packs’ programme was supported during February half term 

 Group work interventions were redeveloped and ready for delivery once schools re-
opened 

 Approval was granted to pilot the delivery of the BTEC Personal Growth and 
Wellbeing, which replaces the BTEC Personal Social Development 

 A successful BTEC Centre inspection took place In January 2021 with good 
practice highlighted in the inspection report 

 Young people in Years 10 and 11 were supported to complete Agored Cymru Level 
One PSD qualifications as part of the Inspire to Achieve project 

 In Inspire to Work, the roll on roll off Employability Programme was delivered to 
small groups of young people with a focus on completing a CV and undertaking 
certain on line qualifications such as ‘Safety in Catering’ 

 Monthly Youth Service Partnership Forum meetings were resumed 

 The Universal Youth Service and commissioned  partners adopted new ways of 
working, including outreach work and teams partnered with organisations such as 
Barod, Cwm Taf Morgannwg Mind and Cardiff City Foundation 

 Online workshops were delivered in partnership with the Street Based Youth 
Service team, Treharris Boys and Girls Club and the Calon Las (MVH) Youth 
Project 

  

Page 22



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1 Given the negative impact of the pandemic on children and young people and the 
impact this had on the delivery of services we clearly want to be fully operational 
‘safely’ in all settings.  This process has begun and risk assessments have been 
revised in light of the guidance provided by WG for alert level zero with the expectation 
that all provisions are fully operational in the new academic year.  We will need to 
consider the impact of the pandemic on young people and reengage them in informal 
and social learning opportunities so increasing both engagements and accredited 
learning opportunities back towards pre-pandemic levels or higher.  

 
6.2 The service is currently developing a new strategic plan for the service that will 

incorporate the responsibilities of all three areas Youth Service, NEETs and Youth 
Support Services into an overarching single plan.  This plan will be shared shortly with 
a request that this goes out to consultation so that all partners internal and external 
have an opportunity to influence and shape the plan.  Partners across both the NEETs 
strategic group and the Youth Support Services steering groups have been supportive 
and involved in this approach to date.  

 
6.3 The body responsible for administering the Youth Services Quality Mark has changed 

and is now administered through the Education Workforce Council.  Due to this change 
and due to the pandemic, the opportunity to renew the award or attempt for the Silver 
Award was not available.  However, now that this is back open the service has already 
begun the process of renewing the Bronze Award.  

 
6.4 There is a substantial amount of delivery which is reliant upon external grant funding 

and which is currently being reviewed either nationally or locally.  The service will need 
to do everything it can to maintain the levels of investment in key areas: 

 
 NEETs coordination contributes significantly to the education agenda through its 

identification and support for those disengaging from education or at risk of 
disengagement 

 Service Managers are already liaising with Careers Wales about future applications 
to the Shared Prosperity Fund  

 Legacy Fund could mean the loss of several big youth providers, however there is 
also growing concern about the lack of resources for other third sector provisions 
compared to these providers.  There will be significant vested interests and unrest 
across communities with any reshaping of provision and funding in this area of 
responsibilities 

 The pandemic has significantly impacted on young people’s wellbeing so 
maintaining the TAF approach for young people and the wider group work 
programme in schools through this resource will be essential.  

 
7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

 
7.1 Review what has worked during the pandemic and establish how we can maintain 

some of these systems (e.g. use of social media) whilst encouraging and supporting 
young people to reengage in face to face services across communities. 

 

Page 23



7.2 Finalise the Youth Support Services Strategic Plan, consult on the plan and after 
approval by Council implement accordingly. 

 
7.3 Explore funding opportunities through potential partnership with Careers Wales to 

develop an application to the Shared Prosperity fund to at least maintain, if not extend 
work with those at risk of disengaging with education and preventing NEETs, guidance 
permitting. 

 
7.4 Once guidance on the future of the Legacy Fund is available provide an analysis report 

and a transition plan to implement the new guidance to Scrutiny and the Tackling 
Poverty Group. 

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO rAISING ASPIRATIONS RAISING STANDARDS 

STRATEGY 
 

8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following RARS Themes and Goals 
 
 Partnership and Collaboration 
 Pandemic Recovery 
 
 Supporting Learners Health and Wellbeing  

 Improving Achievement and Progression  
 
9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
9.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

 

 Best Start to Life  

 
 
 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 

PORTFOLIO LEAD FOR LEARNING  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
  

Page 24



Youth Service Provision      Appendix A 
 
 
Open Access Universal provision 11-25yrs 
 
North Cluster  
 
Dowlais Engine House    - LEGACY FUND* 
Merthyr Valleys Homes    - LEGACY FUND* 
 
Mid Cluster  
 
Georgetown Boys & Girls Club (LA Youth)  - Core Funding 
The Gellideg Foundation     - LEGACY FUND* 
Twynrodyn Action Group (TAG)   - Core Funding** 
Menter Iaith      - WG Youth Support Grant Annual 
 
South Cluster  
 
The Willows Centre (LA Youth)    - Core Funding 
Treharris Boys & Girls Club    - Core Funding 
 
Street Based Service     -  Core Funding  
 
Targeted Provision 11-25yrs 
 
School Support Team     - Youth Support Grant 
Inspire to Achieve      - European (end of 2022)*** 
Inspire to Work      - European (end of 2022)*** 
Youth Support (Team Around Family)  - Families First **** 
NEETS Coordination    - Families First **** 
Wellbeing/ Homelessness prevention  - WG Youth Support Grant Annual  
 
Any other youth provisions across the County Borough do not currently receive financial 
support annually through the Youth Service, or youth/ community orientated grants managed 
through this service area e.g. H factor Aberfan, Stephens and George, bridging the Gap   
 
 
 
* LEGACY FUND  was only meant to be for 3 years but extended and now being reviewed by WG meaning 
these provisions could be at risk 
 
**TAG previously received one off support from Core, however has been supported via grant through 
underspend enabling this to have been ongoing for 3 years 
 
***European Grants will all end  and hope to secure resources through  the  x fund set to be made available but 
no guidance has yet been provided by WG 
 
****Families First funding currently being reviewed and these services  could be at risk 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2021/22  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 16th December 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 13th September 2021 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 28



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 29



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 30



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 32



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/2022 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic 
area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives/ 
Cross Cutting Strategies 

and Plans 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

7th June 2021 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2020/21 

BS Best Start to Life Councillor Harvey Jones and 
Scrutiny Committee members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2021/2022 
 

Adult Community Learning 
(ACL) 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members to consider the 
report for pre-decision prior to being presented to 
Cabinet. 
 

12th July 2021 

Update on Education Data 
(Following the Workshop on 
the 8th June 2021) 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members to explore the 
outcomes of the workshop and to confirm next steps 
in relation to Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for 
Education Services moving forward. 

Early Years and Flying Start 
Update 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Chris Hole – Head of 

Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: To provide members with an 
update on the work being undertaken by the Local 
Authority in improving Early Years and Flying Start 
Services. 
 

13th 
September 

2021 

Asset Management Plan 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Anthony Lewis – Head of 

School Planning and 
Improvement 

 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive an update on the developments of the 
Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools) 
projects for Learning. 
 

Report on Youth Services  
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Chris Hole – Head of 

Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - TBC 

P
age 33



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/2022 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic 
area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

8th November 
2021 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) and the 
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ2 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan (FOTF) 
 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection 
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate 

self-evaluation framework. The Committee will 
review the findings report; and review the 
validity of the judgements made by the Chief 
Officer to secure assurance that these are robust 
and appropriately evidenced. 
 

COVID-19 Recovery & Pupil 
Wellbeing – Overview of Pupil 
standards and state of 
Wellbeing 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education 
HT’s to be confirmed 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will 
receive a report on the standards of pupils since 
returning to school, as well as an update on the 
wellbeing of pupils. SW to confirm 2 HT’s to attend 
 

13th 
December 

2021 

RARS Strategy – Progress 
Update on Key Commitments 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will 
explore and provide challenge on the progress made 
against the key commitments set out within the 
RARS Strategy. 

Business Education Training 
Partnership (BETP) Update 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Chris Hole – Head of 

Community Wellbeing 
Officers from RPP to be 

considered 
 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Committee members will 
examine and offer challenge in relation to the 
progress of the BETP action plan. 

Update Report from the 
College of Merthyr Tydfil 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will 
receive a report from the College of Merthyr Tydfil 
outlining elements of good practice as well as any 
potential areas of concern, including but not limited 

P
age 34



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/2022 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic 
area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

RTI Plan 
 

Chris Hole – Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

College representatives to be 
considered 

 

to the issues relating to young people that are Not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET). 
 

24th January 
2022 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) and the 
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ3 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan (FOTF) 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Anthony Lewis – Head of 

School Planning and 
Improvement 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection 
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate 

self-evaluation framework. The Committee will 
review the findings report; and review the 
validity of the judgements made by the Chief 
Officer to secure assurance that these are robust 
and appropriately evidenced. 
 

Trauma Informed Care and 
Nurture Provision 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Chris Hole – Head of 

Community Wellbeing 
HT’s to be considered 

 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - This report was requested 
by members during last year’s scrutiny committee 
cycle (2020/21). The committee will explore the work 
being undertaken by schools in relation to trauma 
informed care and nurture provision.  
Potential to hold as a workshop in one of the schools. 

Attendance in Schools 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 
– Chief Officer of Education 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny committee will 
receive an update on attendance from early years to 
secondary schools. The committee will examine the 
work being done to improve attendance levels for all 
learners. 

7th March 
2022 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 1) and the 
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ1 

BS Best Start to Life 
Corporate Wellbeing 

Plan (FOTF) 
 

Lisa Mytton – Leader and 
Portfolio Member; Sue Walker 

– Chief Officer of Education; 
Anthony Lewis – Head of 

School Planning and 
Improvement 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a Local Government Education Services Inspection 
Framework, which has been aligned to the corporate 

self-evaluation framework. The Committee will 
review the findings report; and review the 
validity of the judgements made by the Chief 

P
age 35



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2021/2022 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic 
area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Additional items to consider for Work 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Curriculum for Wales – Readiness (9th May Committee cancelled due to elections) 
CSC Challenge Framework 
 

 

Officer to secure assurance that these are robust 
and appropriately evidenced. 
 

Capita One Development 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life 
RARS Strategy 

Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan (FOTF) 

RTI Plan 
 

Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 

Learning / Emma Strand: Data 
Officer 

 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report on use of Capita One within the 
Learning Department and next steps for ongoing 
development. 
 

9th May 2022 

 

Cancelled due to May Elections 
 

P
age 36


	Agenda
	3 Service Asset Management Plan
	Appendix

	4 Youth Services
	5 Forward Work Programme 2021/22
	Appendix


